CEV

CEV Multi-Stakeholder Symposium

"Effectively Communicating Volunteering: The role of PR, Media and Raising Public Awareness"

Valencia, Spain | 28th-30th April 2010

FINAL REPORT - CONFERENCE CONCLUSIONS





Publisher:

© CEV – the European Volunteer Centre 10, rue de la Science 1000 Brussels, Belgium www.cev.be

Editor:

Aurélie Storme

Revisor:

Markus Held Katarína Nikodemová

Proofreader:

Miriam O'Brien

Design:

Stefanie Morgner

Printing:

Imprimerie de Hoeilaart

1st Edition: 500 copies

Printing of this report was supported by:

the European Commission in the framework of the Europe for Citizens programme

Picture of the Valencia Science Museum @ www.worldisround.com



CEV is supported by the European Commission in the framework of the Europe for Citizens Programme. Sole responsibility for this publication lies with CEV. The European Commission can not be held responsible for any use that may be made of information contained here.

CEV Multi-Stakeholder Symposium

"Effectively Communicating Volunteering: The Role of PR, Media and Raising Public Awareness"

Valencia, Spain 28th-30th April 2010

FINAL REPORT - CONFERENCE CONCLUSIONS

See also the Symposium video on You Tube:

http://www.youtube.com/watch?v=3fCdM448zcs



TABLE OF CONTENTS:

Foreword by Nick Cater	3
CEV's 40 Golden Rules on Effectively Communicating Volunteering	6
Programme of the conference	8
Introduction	11
I. Setting up a communication strategy – main elements	13
1. The objectives	14
2. The message	15
3. The tools and channels	16
4. Assessing the effectiveness of a communication strategy	18
II. Spotlight on three specific cases	19
1. Communicating online	19
2. Collaborating with media and PR and communication agencies	20
3. Communicating corporate volunteering	22
III. The European Year of Volunteering 2011 – a unique opportunity to communicate volunteering	24
Appendixes	
1. Address book	27
2. Participant's list	29
3. Bibliography and references	37
4. DVD of the Symposium	??



Foreword by Nick Cater

Finding communications colour and karma as volunteering prepares for 2011

Nick Cater explores the Valencia Symposium and discovers that we are all ladybirds now

How to sum up the CEV Symposium in Valencia? Colour, karma and contrasts are what I recall.

There were the golden rules on volunteering communication the organisers requested us to prepare and the paella turned black with squid ink in local bars. The discovery of cause-related "karma points" rewarding online volunteers, and then the idea of consequence-free inebriation if unpaid helpers can be recruited to assist drinkers after a night out. A busy schedule of panels, workshops and more, all conducted at a relaxed Spanish pace, with plenty of food and wine. Oh, and ladybirds as an inspiration for corporate volunteering.

This Multi-Stakeholder Symposium on "Effectively communicating volunteering; the role of PR, media and raising public awareness" ticked plenty of boxes. An occasion interesting and informative, entertaining and enlightening? Big tick. Great city and venue? Tick, since stylish Valencia comes com-

plete with meeting places of stone, steel, glass and water to dazzle the eyes yet sooth the brow. A mix of friends and strangers to provoke fresh thinking and send you off with ideas aplenty to prepare for the European Year of Volunteering 2011? Tick again.

In all, more than 300 participants and speakers from the volunteering world, the business sector, governments and media in at least 30 countries - from the US, Brazil and Turkey to Spain itself and almost every other European nation - defied the threat to flights of Icelandic volcanic dust and arrived with their insights and examples of volunteer communications excellence to share and new collaborations to explore to ensure the coming year's success.

CEV had already set a Valencia challenge, warning that a changing technological landscape offered more chances to reach audiences fast, yet meant more competition, extra costs and excluded some from that new net-led world, so Journalist, media consultant and communications volunteer, Nick Cater was among the panellists at the Valencia Symposium.

"volunteer organisations have to be strategic as to which communication channels to use, what messages to convey and how to tailor communication activities to their different interlocutors". Online or off, volunteer agencies were quick to show that with 2011 looming, they were sharpening those strategies.

RockCorps chief executive Stephen Greene talked of attracting tens of thousands of young people to give time in the US and Europe by initially avoiding any mention of volunteering, opening conversations about their "passion point" of music and then creating a community through shared experiences. The Dutch highlighted the NL DOET - Netherlands Does - campaign that tripled its response to engage 150,000 volunteers over two days in 2010, by focusing its advertising and media work on groups, such as families, schools and sports clubs, that are easier to motivate because people like to be part of a crowd.

All the social media were on the agenda, from Twitter to Facebook and YouTube. Needing money and support to build a youth centre, Serbia's science and environment youth organisation

Vladimir Mandić-Manda explained how video can be an easily mastered tool, allowing wide involvement in communications. Also open to all was a new site backed by Spain's Fundacion Bip Bip, Microvoluntarios.org, that allows online volunteers to earn its "karma points" by completing "microtasks" for charities worldwide, from website design to research or translation.

Not everything was so positive. Erik Rahn of Bundesnetzwerk Bürgerschaftliches Engagement, the German National Network for Civil Society, suggested that the breadth of volunteer engagement - from the roles they take to the issues they tackle - can be a problem, since "volunteering is cursed with its cross-cutting nature", so there is a risk of the media and others losing interest in something so hard to pin down. Stephen Greene also noted the wide gap between the 67% of RockCorps volunteers who looked for more volunteering opportunities and the 35% or so who actually volunteered again within a year.

An important extra ingredient in Valencia was the growing role, and even greater potential, of corporate volunteering, with firms investing in this as both part of their corporate social responsibility and, as KPMG's Tanya Burak explained, because it offers business benefits by assisting formal training, and delivering a more "emotionally intelligent" workforce. But the work-

force could be just the start, since Telefonica Brazil's Cesar Rua advocated going beyond the corporate to involve the friends and family of employees. Meanwhile, the link between insects and corporate volunteering was revealed by Aysun Sayin of Turkey's Boyner Group. Its comprehensive volunteering programme includes in-house brand building and the slogan "Come on, be a ladybird!" to urge volunteers to encourage others to take part, explaining: "In Turkey, it is believed that ladybird brings good luck, good fortune and opportunities."

Governments - especially Hungary and Poland as the EU presidency holders in 2011 - offered their perspective on the upcoming year's activities, and media people added their advice, with Spain's Pura Gómez Román urging volunteer-involving organisations to create "showy actions", ideally in the streets, while offering journalists an easier life by providing them with photographs, texts and quotable spokespeople. The UK's Mathew Little suggested research to target stories carefully to the right media, creativity to find new angles in volunteering - "does it increase

social cohesion, bring divided communities together, improve job chances for young people?" - and taking advantage of controversy to engage in debates and gain coverage.

Drawing together many threads from the formal and informal discussions, the European Commission's John Macdonald, head of the European Year of Volunteering 2011 Task Force, told the Symposium that the year was well on its way, with governments, volunteering organisations and businesses actively involved and €11 million committed for the year's activities and their buildup, including goodwill ambassadors, a website, and a roadshow to highlight 2011's thematic quarters: sport; education and training; environmental protection and sustainable energy; and social inclusion.

Reflecting the positive tone of the slogan agreed for the year, "Volunteer! Make a difference", he added that across the EU there were 100 million people already volunteering, leaving "200 million still to come". With that task in mind for the European Year of Volunteering 2011, I can only add: bring it on ... and do not forget the ladybirds.

40 Golden Rules 40 Golden Rules

CEV's 40 Golden Rules on Effectively Communicating Volunteering

Setting up a communication strategy – main elements

- 1 There is no Golden Rule every situation is unique!
- **2** Prepare, prepare, prepare!
- **3** Precisely define your objectives
- 4 Precisely define the message you want to disseminate
- 5 Adapt the content of your message to the different target groups
- 6 Talk about people's interests and "passion points"
- 7 Formulate a clear, intelligible and attractive message
- 8 Talk both about emotions and concrete projects
- 9 Modernise the volunteering message by highlighting new dimensions of volunteering, in order to challenge its old-fashioned image
- 10 Involve volunteers themselves as important channels of communication
- 11 Use as many tools and channels of communication as possible
- **12** Build partnerships and gather supporters in order to get the necessary resources to implement your communication strategy
- **13** Assign one person as exclusively responsible for the communication strategy in order to allocate the necessary resources and time for an effective strategy
- **14** Define objectives that can produce measurable results in order to be able to assess the effectiveness of your communication strategy
- 15 Be realistic; define objectives that you can afford to implement
- **16** Assess the effectiveness of your communication strategy and learn lessons

Spotlight on three specific cases:

- 1. Communicating online
- 17 Be prepared to invest time in the management of your website and other online communication tools
- **18** Strategically choose which online tools to invest in, considering the results they might bring
- 19 Collect as many email addresses as possible and maintain a well-organised and updated contact database
- **20** Always make the most important and up-to-date information directly visible in your web communication tools
- 21 Communicate in a concise, clear and attractive way through emails and e-newsletters

- 22 Keep in mind that online communication is two-way and allow some space for interactions, opinions, and questions
- 23 Combine online and "offline" traditional communication tools and channels

2. Collaborating with media and PR and communication agencies

- 24 Identify the media and agencies you should work with, based on extensive research
- 25 Present a clear, concise and "newsworthy" message to the media
- 26 Present real and concrete stories, together with tangible data, and identify the hooks that will attract media attentio
- 27 Facilitate the work of the journalists as much as possible by providing all necessary information in a brief but exhaustive way
- **28** Do not wait until journalists come to you but rather take the initiative to approach them and to build a real partnership
- 29 Be aware of controversies and take them as an opportunity for more visibility
- **30** Negotiate pro bono services with PR and communication agencies by committing them to your cause and triggering their interest
- **31** Use a diversity of partners among PR and communication agencies to trigger a sense of competition leading to more and better results

3. Communicating corporate volunteering

- **32** Convince companies' top management of the benefits of employee volunteering by referring to their CSR responsibilities and to how volunteering contributes to employees' self-development and commitment to the company
- **33** Provide clear information about the volunteering opportunities to employees
- **34** Include employee volunteers in the planning process of volunteering activities
- **35** Be in regular contact with employee volunteers and be available for questions and remarks
- **36** Acknowledge and reward employee volunteers for their contribution
- **37** Make volunteering relevant to your audience both personally and professionally
- **38** Involve employee volunteers in the communication strategy

The European Year of Volunteering – a unique opportunity to communicate volunteering

- **39** Make 2011 your year: Use the momentum created to further advance your campaigns and messages
- **40** Make the most of the European Year 2011 to widely communicate the message of volunteering!

PROGRAMME OF THE CONFERENCE

Wednesday, 28 April 2010

09:00 Registration

09:30 Opening ceremony of the conference "Effectively Communicating Volunteering –
The Role of PR, Media and Raising Public Awareness"

→ Rita Barberá Nolla Mayor of Valencia
 → Rafael Blasco Castany Fundar President
 → Eva Hambach CEV President

10.00 Opening panel: Effectively Communicating Volunteering – What does it take?

Keynote Speech: "Communicating Volunteering in Spain"
Luis Aranguren Gonzalo, Philosopher, Director of PPC editions (Spain)

→ John Macdonald Head of Task Force for the European Year of

Volunteering 2011, European Commission

Ambassador of Hungary to Spain

→ Kuba Wygnánski The Unit for Social Innovation and Research

"Shipyard" (Poland)

Tanya Burak Communications Manager at KPMG (UK)
 Ettore Degli Esposti Head of Communications, Coordination of

Volunteer Support Centres Lombardia (Italy)

Chair: Markus Held, CEV Director

11.30 Coffee break and Communication Fair

Edit Bucsi Szabó

13.30 Lunch

15.30 A spotlight on good practice – Parallel workshops:

WS I

Video as tool to promote volunteering and Do it yourself: How to build a youth centre?

Domagoj Kovacic SEEYN South East European Youth Network

(Bosnia and Herzegovina);

Danilo Tomic SEEYN/research society "Vladimir Mandic-Manda" (Serbia).

WS II

Entendiendo convivencias and "Que tu tamaño no te limite". Pequeñas ONG que piensan a lo grande

requerius Orto que pierisari a lo grande

Vicente Baeza MPDL – Movimiento Por La Paz el Desarme

y la Libertad (Spain);

Isabel García-Ajofrín Desarrollo y Asistencia (Spain).

WS III

Make a Difference Caravan

Cristina Rigman Pro Vobis National Volunteer Centre (Romania)

WS IV

Happy together! Should a campaign focus on groups, rather than on individuals?

Mark Molenaar MOVISIE (Netherland)

WS V

RockCorps: Using live music, artists and pop culture to inspire youth volunteerism

Stephen Greene RockCorps (France)

WS VI

Organising the German National Volunteer's Action Week

Erik Rahn and

Mirko Schwärzel BBE - Bundesnetzwerk Bürgerschaftliches Engagement

(Germany)

17.15 Coffee break

17.45 Practitioners' panels

Debate I

New technologies, the Internet and social media:

How to make them work for volunteering?

Naoise McNallyVolunteering Ireland (Ireland);Yolanda RuedaFundación Cibervoluntarios (Spain);Matt BeardAmnesty International (Germany);

Karin Lopatta-Loibl European Commission; **Moderator – Jesús Montesinos**, Journalist (Spain).

Debate II

How to talk "media"? What does it take to make it interesting?

Nick Cater Freelance Journalist (UK);
Matthew Little Freelance Journalist (UK);
Pura Gómez Journalist (Spain);

Moderator - Elaine Bradley, Volunteering Ireland (Ireland).

Debate III

How to bring the message across – Is "volunteering" still modern?

Stephen GreeneRockCorps (France);Daniel PinazoJaume I University (Spain);

Katie Rizvi The Little People Association (Romania);

Moderator - Andras F. Tóth, ÖKA National Volunteer Centre (Hungary).

18:45 Reflections and conclusions of Day I

Chair: Susana Szabo, France Bénévolat, CEV Vice-President

21.00 Cocktail dinner

Thursday, 29 April 2010

10:00 Challenges in practice: Devising effective strategies:

WS VII

Successful internal communication and volunteer recruitment

Aysun Sayin The Boyner Group (Turkey)

WS VIII

Virtual Consulting Platform for Volunteering and

Hacesfalta.org – Internet project for volunteering promotion

Eugen Baldas and

Ulrike Berger Deustcher Caritasverband/Volunteer Center

Brandenburg (Germany)

WSIX

The Italian "Charter of Representation"

Mara Georgescu Celivo – Centro Servizio al Volontariato della

provincia di Genova

WS X

Successful examples of nation-wide PR/communication campaigns on volunteering

César Rúa Telefonica São Paulo (Brazil);

María Ángeles -

Alcázar García Iberdrola (Spain).

WS XI

"A look on the other side":

What can we learn from media professionals?

Matthew LittleFreelance Journalist (UK);Nick CaterFreelance Journalist (UK).

WS XII

A look on the other side":

What can we learn from media professionals?

Julià Castelló Journalist (Spain);

Eulalia Mas Federació Catalana del Voluntariat Social (Spain);

Pura Gómez Journalist (Spain);

Iván Sánchez Journalist for Mediaresponsable (Spain).

11.45 Coffee break and Communication Fair

12.45 Closing session of the conference

Lessons learned - Guidelines for effective communication at different levels; And award ceremony for outstanding communication tools presented during the conference in 3 different categories.

Chair: Renzo Razzano, CSVnet, CEV Vice-President

INTRODUCTION

What, Who and Where?

What does it take today to effectively communicate "volunteering"? How do we motivate people to get involved? How can we contribute to creating a positive image of volunteering in our societies? What are the best tools to communicate our work?

The first of the two CEV General Assembly conferences in 2010 took place in Valencia, Spain, between 28th and 30th April 2010, bringing together more than 300 participants from 25 different countries to discuss these questions as well as plans of action towards the upcoming European Year of Volunteering 2011. Among them were representatives of CEV members and other civil society organisations; communication experts and journalists; representatives from the European Commission including John Macdonald, the leader of the Task Force for the European Year 2011; businesses such as American Airlines, Iberdrola and Telefonica; and governments, including representatives from the Belgian, Hungarian and Polish European Council presidencies in 2010 and 2011. The conference was organised by CEV in cooperation with its member organisation, FUNDAR - Fondación de la Solidaridad y el Voluntariado de la Comunitat Valenciana, and was supported by the European Commission.

Why?

Effective internal and external communication is key in today's information society. New technologies have brought about exciting opportunities and we are able to communicate quickly and to wide audiences at the same time. At first sight, recruiting volunteers or telling successful volunteering stories to the public has become easy. However, these new opportunities have also increased "competition" for attention and created new forms of exclusion of those not having access to the Internet. And communicating can be costly both in term of finances and energy. Volunteer centres and volunteer-involving organisations have to be strategic as to which communication channels to use, what messages to convey and how to tailor communication activities to their different interlocutors. The aim of the Symposium was to discuss these various challenges and issues and identify best practices regarding volunteering projects using innovative and effective communication tools and strategies, involving the use of new media, implying forms of collaboration with the media and PR and communication specialists, or aiming at renewing the image and perception of volunteering. The Symposium attempted to identify the "Golden Rules" in the field of communicating volunteering and with regard to the various dimensions of this topic.

How?

The conference "Effectively communicating volunteering – the role of PR, media and raising public awareness" took place in the framework of the Valencia CEV Multi-Stakeholder Symposium, next to the Multi-Stakeholder Forum on the preparations towards the European Year of Volunteering 2011.

The conference started with a keynote speech of Luis Aranguren Gonzalo, philosopher and director of PPC Editions, on communicating volunteering in Spain, in which he used various metaphors to refer to the different dimensions of volunteering. This was followed by an opening panel discussion involving representatives of the European Commission, the Hungarian and Polish EU Presidencies, a CEV member organisation, and the business sector, who discussed the question of how to effectively communicate volunteering, what the message should be, and which tools can be used. In twelve different workshops various communication projects were then presented by CEV members and other stakeholders, and three panels of practitioners de-

bated the use of new technologies and social media in the volunteering area; cooperation with the media; and effective ways to bring the message of volunteering across. In addition, during the whole conference, various organisations and companies had the opportunity to display their communication tools and strategies in a Communication Fair consisting of 25 stands. With the Communication Awards, the participants could vote for the best stand, the best workshop and the best speaker's contribution.

What does this report contain?

Rather than literally reporting on the manifold discussions held in the different sessions, this report seeks to identify and highlight the main conclusions that have been drawn in terms of "Golden Rules" for communicating volunteering in the most effective way, looking at the various dimensions of communication, some specific cases, and the upcoming European Year of Volunteering as an opportunity for communicating volunteering. No less than 40 Golden Rules have been formulated during the conference and are compiled in this report. The different sections are illustrated by examples of projects and statements drawn from the debates and workshops.

The first chapter "Setting up a communication strategy - main elements", addresses the different dimensions to take into account when designing a communication strategy, including the objectives, the message, the tools and activities and the importance of assessing the impact of any communication strategy. The second chapter "Spotlight on three specific cases" looks more deeply at how to effectively communicate volunteering in the following specific situations: communicating through Internet; collaborating with the media and PR and communication agencies; and communicating corporate volunteering. Finally the third chapter concludes the report by considering the European Year of Volunteering 2011 as a unique opportunity to widely communicate about volunteering and raise awareness of the value and importance of volunteering all over Europe.

The report also comprises three appendices – an address book of the organisations involved, the participants' list and a bibliography – as well as the DVD of the conference which compiles the various PowerPoint presentations, videos and other communication material presented during the Symposium.

In addition, a video summarising the Symposium and providing a glimpse of the event is accessible on the video-sharing website 'You Tube' at: http://www.youtube.com/watch?v=3fCdM448zcs

CEV would like to thank FUNDAR - Fundación de la Solidaridad y el Voluntariado de la Comunitat Valenciana, for having hosted the conference; all speakers and workshop presenters who agreed to share their expertise and knowledge through the workshops and panel discussions; the participants for their massive presence and their active contribution in the discussions; and the volunteer proofreader Miriam O'Brien for her contribution to this publication. CEV also extends a special "thank you" to Ángel Varela Pena, who realised the film of the conference, and to Nick Cater, who contributed to it as well as to this report.

Aurélie Storme

CEV - the European Volunteer Centre

Brussels, July 2010

I. SETTING UP A COMMUNICATION STRATEGY – MAIN ELEMENTS

Although more than 100 million Europeans engage in voluntary activities today, volunteering is still a very unknown sector and many people remain unaware of its concrete impact as well as of the ways they can get involved as volunteers in their daily life; the advocacy process has not yet been effective enough to convince policy-makers to make volunteering one of their policy strategies' priorities; and volunteering remains perceived by many as an old-fashioned activity reserved to a restricted number of people.

As *Markus Held*, CEV Director, formulated: "We, as volunteer organisations do not communicate enough. We are very good at organising volunteering, we are very good at training volunteers, but we are not very good at communicating all the nice stories which are behind volunteering." Volunteer organisations' communication strategies should be improved in order to make volunteering accessible to all and recognised by everyone, and to allow for a strong volunteering infrastructure to be put in place thanks to enabling policies and adequate support. What are the main elements of an effective communication strategy? And what are the concrete recommendations that can be drawn from the discussions held during the Symposium?

A first Golden Rule that can be formulated, in relation to these questions, is that there is actually no Golden Rule. Indeed there is not one strict rule that can be defined, in the sense that every communication strategy is very specific and designed in the

GOLDEN RULE 1

There is no Golden Rule – every situation is unique!

framework of a unique situation, addressed to a particular group of people, in a particular context, and aiming at disseminating specific messages. The different elements of a communication strategy depend on many factors, which makes it impossible to define one intangible line of action that can be followed in every cases. Thus, some clues and suggestions can be formulated, such as the Golden Rules that are compiled in this report, but they will always have to be adapted to the particular situation in which a specific communication strategy is developed.

GOLDEN RULE 2

Prepare, prepare, prepare!

A general recommendation that was agreed upon by most delegates on the global process of designing any communication strategy was the importance of good preparation of the communication

process before initiating any activity: research and precise knowledge of what your objectives, targets and tools are, is indeed essential, as this section will prove it. The planning of a communication strategy will depend on these various elements and will require thorough preparation in terms of collecting case histories, bringing together skills and experience, designing the budget, and assessing the work one organisation can afford.

This chapter outlines successively the following dimensions of communication which were addressed during the conference, and which are crucial to consider when designing a communication strategy:

- The objectives
- The message
- The tools and channels of communication
- The assessing process of a communication strategy's impact

Communication Strategy Communication Strategy

1. The objectives

GOLDEN RULE 3

Precisely define your objectives

When planning any communication strategy, John Macdonald, leader of the European Commission Task Force for the European Year 2011 it is important to firstly identify precisely what are the objectives to be achieved. The ultimate aim must be kept in mind in order to ensure that all communication activities lead to the achievement of this aim and do not miss the target. The main general objectives of communicating volunteering

that were identified during the conference can be grouped in 3 main categories:

» Fostering volunteering and maintaining consistent civic engagement

A permanent mission of volunteer organisations is to motivate more people to get involved in volunteering. In this aim, they need to be able to communicate efficiently about the multiplicity of volunteering opportunities and about the benefits of volunteering both to society and to the volunteers themselves. In this regard, effective communication will also aim to raise wide media attention as this will contribute to spreading the message as widely as possible and reach more people.

"We want more to be known

about the benefits of volunteering; we want

policy-makers to care about and foster those bene-

fits; and we want more people to be involved in spread-

ing those benefits around Europe and beyond."

Effective communication built on strong and convincing arguments should also serve the objective of putting volunteering high on the political agenda of decision-makers in order for enabling policies to be designed in favour of volunteering and its infrastructure, making it easier for citizens to get engaged.

Finally, efficient internal communication with the volunteers will also be an important factor to ensure a constant commitment and motivation from them. A close connection with the volunteers, a clear and consistent communication about their mission and the importance of the cause they work for, and permanent availability of the volunteer organisations' staff to answer their questions and inquiries are key to keeping volunteers committed to the project and willing to continue to get involved.

» Raising public awareness of the value and impact of volunteering, and gathering support

A second important general objective of communicating volunteering is to raise awareness about its actual impact in order to gather more support from the general public but also from various stakeholders such as governments and businesses.

Here again, effective communication with the relevant authorities to advocate enabling volunteering policies is crucial, as well as gaining support from businesses by communicating the benefits of corporate volunteering for companies and the possibilities to include volunteering in their CSR strategies.

Celebrating volunteers and the input they bring to society is another way to increase recognition among the general public and different stakeholders, as well as bringing to the forefront the nice stories that are associated with volunteers.

» Increasing the efficiency of volunteering and share best practices and lessons learnt

Consistent, effective and clear internal communication with the volunteers through regular information-sharing and close supervision will ensure that the task is done in an efficient manner and according to what is expected.

On the other hand, improved efficiency will also depend on the ability of volunteer organisations from various regions and countries to network and share best practices and lessons learnt. The more they communicate and exchange among themselves, the more they can learn about successful and unsuccessful experiences and draw lessons from these experiences.

Besides these three categories, any communication campaign will have to define its specific objectives, which will depend on several factors including the particular field in which the associated project or action takes place, the target groups, the general context in which the communication process is carried out and the tools that are available.

"More than the tools, the message primarily matters" Renzo Razzano, CSVnet, CEV Vice-President

2. The message

The message is the sine qua non condition of any communication process; without a substantial mes-

GOLDEN RULE 4

Precisely define the message you want to disseminate

sage you cannot draw the attention of citizens nor decision-makers or any other stakeholder. Moreover, the message needs to be precisely defined before being conveyed as it will have to fulfil several requirements in order to be as effective as possible and reach every target. According to Matt Beard, Marketing Director at Amnesty International Germany, the message is indeed much more important than the medium; a communication strategy using very popular media or high-visibility events can completely miss its objective if the content of the message conveyed is not specific enough or does not suit the targeted audience.

GOLDEN RULE 5

Adapt the content of your message to the different target groups

The content of the message to be communicated should be flexible and adapted to the different target groups. While attempting to raise awareness of volunteering and encourage more people to volunteer, the message should obviously not be the

same when addressing an elderly person or a youngster. These groups will not be interested in the same aspects of volunteering and will be attracted by different fields of volunteering.

In a broader view, every individual has different interests; as stated by **Stephen Greene** from Rock-Corps, volunteer organisations should be able to identify the "passion point" of their audience and adapt the message accordingly. Naoise McNally

GOLDEN RULE 6

Talk about people's interests and "passion points"

from Volunteering Ireland argues in the same direction, saying that volunteer organisations should showcase the multiplicity of areas in which volunteering can take place in order to match the interests of all segments of the population. Marc Molenaar from Movisie also emphasised this point by recommending to communicate not only about the concept of volunteering as such, but also about all the realities and concrete dimensions that this concept encompasses in order to enable people to link volunteering with what they actually like and are interested in.

GOLDEN RULE 7

Formulate a clear, intelligible and attractive message

Other recommendations formulated during the conference include the importance of making the content of the message clear and intelligible so that it can reach every individual from any background. The message should also be attractive and

talk about both emotions and concrete projects, as stated by Isabel Ajofrin-Garcia, from Desarrollo y Asistencia. Emotions and "happy-ending" stories will sensitise people while illustraCommunication Strategy Communication Strategy

"Do not resort to easy emotion to recruit volunteers. Combine emotions with ideas; provide specific data, not just impressions."

both personal Isabel Aiofrin-Garcia, Desarrollo v and Asistencia, Spain sional benefits of

tions of concrete projects will give them a clear idea of how they can get involved as volunteers, as pointed out by **Dan**iel Pinazo, from Jaume I University. The message should also highlight

GOLDEN RULE 8

Talk both about emotions and concrete projects

Finally it is important, in our messages, to challenge the traditional perception of volunteering that prevails among many people: this perception sees volunteering as an old-fashioned activity mainly reserved for elderly or rich people, and also often perceives it as a duty or sacrifice

profes-

GOLDEN RULE 9

Modernise the volunteering message by highlighting new dimensions of volunteering, in order to challenge its old-fashioned image rather than a personal choice. According to **Kuba** Wyanánski, from the Polish Unit for Social Innovation and Research, a new image of volunteering can only be spread around if we also adopt new messages, if we modernise the message and highlight new dimensions such as free will, personal fulfilment, fun and opportunities for exchanges.

3. The tools and channels

While the previous section highlighted the importance of the content of the message when communicating volunteering, this section focuses on the more practical side of the communication process, i.e. the tools, activities and channels that we use to convey the message. This aspect is also crucial as the various tools that are nowadays at our disposal allow us to spread the message more quickly and among a much broader audience.

being a volunteer.

In the various workshops and stands of the Conference Communication Fair, a variety of activities and tools used by volunteer organisations in their communication strategies were showcased.

These include¹:

- » High-visibility events and campaigns such as the Make a Difference Caravan of Pro Vobis, the German National Volunteer Week presented by BBE, the Happy Together campaign organised by Movisie, the Flashmob action of Bator Tabor in Hungary, or the RockCorps concerts;
- **Big media campaigns** such as for the German National Volunteer Week or the RockCorps events:
- >> Volunteer Award campaigns such as the Ireland Involved Awards organised by Volunteering Ireland
- >> Videos and spots on volunteering published on DVDs and the Internet, as presented by SEEYN, Celivo or FUNDAR;
- sulting platform of Caritas and the Internet project Hacesfalta.org of Fundación Chandra;

"New technologies have brought about exciting opportunities and we are able to communicate quickly and to wide audiences at

the same time"

» Virtual web platforms such as official websites, the CEV Online Community, the virtual con-

New social media such as blogs, Facebook and YouTube, like SEEYN uses;

1 More details about these tools can be found on the DVD which compiles the workshop presentations and so e material presented at the Communication Fair.

Renowned celebrities as ambassadors such as those presented by The Little People Association and Pro Vobis: or CEV Ambassadors:

- **Conferences and seminars** on different topics such as the CEV Symposiums;
- Traditional communication channels such as newspapers, newsletters, press releases and appearances on TV broadcast spots, face-to-face meetings, promotional presence in public spaces, emails, phone calls and SMS messages, etc.

In addition to these different tools, another important channel of communication was mentioned several times during the discussions: the volunteers themselves. In this perspective, Matt Beard, from Amnesty International Germany, underlined the role of volunteers as communication agents of

GOLDEN RULE 10

Involve volunteers themselves as important channels of communication

the volunteering work and values. As they are the ones who were convinced by the message of volunteering and live volunteering in their daily life, they are the best placed to spread the message around and convince other people on the basis of their own experience.

GOLDEN RULE 11

Use as many tools and channels of communication as possible

Volunteer organisations should make use, to the extent their resources permit it, of as many tools and channels as possible, as different audiences have access to different tools. The use of a variety of channels will ensure that awareness is effective-

ly raised among more people. In this perspective, traditional communication tools should not be left aside as they are still very effective, but benefits should also be taken from the use of the new communication tools which have appeared over recent years and have already become popular and effective, as pointed out by **Domagoj Kovacic** from SEEYN.

The use of as many tools as possible can sometimes be difficult to implement as one might lack the necessary resources to do so. Organising a big campaign or developing an innovative and very advanced website obviously requires money. One possibility to gather the necessary resources consists in finding sponsors and getting support from

GOLDEN RULE 12

Build partnerships and gather supporters in order to get the necessary resources to implement your communication strategy

different actors such as public authorities and companies, or benefit from pro-bono services. The key is to establish partnerships and gather supporters. But in turn, this requires first the development of a good communication strategy towards these stakeholders in order to convince them to give their support. On the other hand an organisation with limited resources can also achieve a lot if it manages to adequately allocate its budget and set the appropriate priorities.

GOLDEN RULE 13

Assign one person as exclusively responsible for the communication strategy in order to allocate the necessary resources and time for an effective strategy

One way to achieve this is to have a very good division of work within the organisation, with at least one staff member fully responsible for the communication dimension, as recommended by Ettore Degli Esposti and Pura Gómez Román, and therefore able to clearly identify what are the priorities and the needs in terms of budget and the effective implementation of the communication activities.

4. Assessing the effectiveness of a communication strategy

Volunteer organisations need an efficient communication strategy in order to increase their visibility and in this way be able to gather support and raise awareness among society in general and among various stakeholders. The communication strategy is thus not an end in itself but rather a means to an end. Therefore, the design of the strategy must be really well thought out and accompanied by the definition of precise objectives so that once the strategy.

"Use feedback to improve programme communication and delivery" Tanya Burak, KPMG

panied by the definition of precise objectives so that once the strategy is implemented, its impact and effectiveness can be regularly evaluated on the basis of measurable results. Meas-

GOLDEN RULE 14

Define objectives that can produce measurable results in order to be able to assess the effectiveness of your communication strategy

In addition, it is important to assess from the start whether your objectives actually match the resources that are available for the communication strategy. An overly ambitious strategy which does not take into account the actual degree of afford-

GOLDEN RULE 15

uring the concrete impact of a strategy will make it

possible to decide on whether the strategy should

be maintained or whether it should be adjusted

somehow or even completely re-oriented. Hence the importance of defining, from the beginning,

objectives that are measurable, as highlighted by

Naoise McNally from Volunteering Ireland.

Be realistic; define objectives that you can afford to implement

ability will undoubtedly miss its objective and be a waste of money and time. On the other hand a positive assessment of a strategy can be an argument to present to the decision body of the organisation in order to convince it to increase the communication budget.

GOLDEN RULE 16

Assess the effectiveness of your communication strategy and learn lessons

In order to assess a strategy's impact the results will have to be measured to be then confronted to the initial objectives. Results can be measured in different ways and measurement techniques vary depending on the communication tools used and the objectives. Here are some examples: surveys

can be conducted among the audience to find out their perception of a communication strategy; if the objective is to raise media attention, the impact can be calculated on the basis of the number of medias channelling the message and the extent to which they report on the key ideas; if the communication strategy includes channelling information via a website, statistics regarding the frequency of visits is a useful way to measure the effectiveness of the strategy. In every case, impact can only be measured if objectives were precisely defined from the start.

II. SPOTLIGHT ON THREE SPECIFIC CASES

After having addressed the main elements of the communication process, we will now consider some specific cases that were discussed in more depth during the conference.

These cases are:

- how best to communicate online, through the Web, including websites and social media;
- » how to establish a fruitful collaboration with the media and PR and communication agencies;
- » how to communicate volunteering in the business sector in the framework of CSR and employee-volunteering programmes.

"Within the first 10 seconds of a potential volunteer coming onto a website or a social media space, he/she should be able to directly answer the three questions a) who are you? b) what do you do? and c) what do you want him/her to do?"

Matt Beard, Amnesty International Germany

1. Communicating online

The emergence of Internet has brought a wide range of new options to channel our messages more quickly and to wider audiences. Websites, emails, e-newsletters, blogs, forums and other social media are so many tools that are at our disposal nowadays to convey our messages. Moreover, Internet is the first source most people now resort to when they look for

information or anything else. In this sense, online technologies constitute without any doubt a unique opportunity for volunteer organisations to reach more people.

However, Internet also has its pitfalls including the fact that it is evolving so fast that you need to invest significant time in it in order to follow the curve and stay updated to be efficient when using it. Moreover, one might rapidly get lost in the Web and waste a lot of time if he/she does not put some

GOLDEN RULE 17

it wishes to reach, an organisation should decide to

invest time in the management of a website, a blog,

or a profile on Facebook. If not regularly updated with new information, these tools might indeed not

have any impact, hence the importance of assessing

the worth of investing time or money in it.

Be prepared to invest time in the management of your website and other online communication tools

limit with regard to the type and number of tools it uses in order to get the message across; it makes no sense to try to be "all over" if this means spending more resources than it actually brings results. Depending on the objectives of the organisation as well as on the target groups

GOLDEN RULE 18

Strategically choose which online tools to invest in, considering the results they might bring

With regard to email addresses, volunteer organisations should permanently seek to collect as many email addresses as possible in order to send their messages, e-newsletters, press releases, etc. to more people, and they should maintain well-organised and updated contact databases in order to be able to contact the right person at the right

GOLDEN RULE 19

Collect as many email addresses as possible and maintain a well-organised and updated contact database

time. On the other hand, volunteer organisations should always make their email address and website as well as other contact details very visible in emails and printed publications in order for people to be able to easily find them and contact them.

GOLDEN RULE 20

Always make the most important and up-to-date information directly visible in your web communication tools

details of an organisation or a volunteer opportunity in a specific field. The same recommenda-

tion actually applies to emails and e-newsletters: nowadays, we all receive plenty of these every day, and unless the information is clear, brief and "to the point", one will not take the time to read a long email or newsletter which does not clearly indicate the topic or the issue at stake.

GOLDEN RULE 21

Matt Beard stressed the importance of making the

most important information directly accessible and

visible on the website of the organisation. Internet

is indeed very wide and Web users do not want to

spend hours exploring one website in order to find

the information they seek, especially if they are

looking for something very specific like the contact

Communicate in a concise, clear and attractive way through emails and e-newsletters

GOLDEN RULE 22

Keep in mind that online communication is two-way and allow some space for interactions, opinions, and questions The two-way nature of online communication, in contrast to communication through television or radio, was also highlighted in the discussions. On the Web, people expect to have the opportunity to react to the information that is provided to them; they want to have the opportunity to interact with the information provider and have their say on

what is proposed to them. Considering this, *Eugen Baldas* and *Diego Lejarazu* both emphasised the importance of allowing some space on websites for people to be able to give their opinion and ask questions.

Finally, although these new technologies are now widely spread and accessible to many people, one should keep in mind that a large part of the population still does not have regular access or even any access to those tools. Therefore one should not base his whole communication strategy on them

GOLDEN RULE 23

Combine online and "offline" – traditional – communication tools and channels

but rather continue to use more traditional communication channels such as printed media and face to face gatherings in combination with online communication.

Collaborating with media and PR and communication agencies

"The need for 'content' has increased rapidly. Media need stories and often won't be too discerning. If you have something to say, say it."

Mathew Little, Freelance Journalist

Press coverage, including through print, broadcast and electronic media, is a fast and powerful way to disseminate information and raise awareness of your organisation and volunteering in general. Moreover, it generally does not require a big investment of money while allowing for great exposure. However, collaborating with

the media requires following some "rules" and being ready to

adapt to the journalists' schedule. It also requires being aware of certain

consequences, including the fact that, once you share your story with the media, you have limited control over the way it will be delivered.

A first important step in establishing some collaboration with journalists and getting your entry in the "world of the media" consists of having a

GOLDEN RULE 24

Identify the media and agencies you should work with, based on extensive research

precise idea of what you want to say, to whom, and for which purpose. Knowing this will allow you to know which kind of media to address. In order to identify which media it would be more efficient and more realistic to work with, it will also be important to do some research on the various media that exist and regularly consult them.

"Read, watch or listen to the media you target as you cannot serve up what you have not eaten." Nick Cater, Journalist & media consultant

GOLDEN RULE 25

Present a clear, concise and "newsworthy" message to the media

When approaching journalists, it is crucial, according to *Mathew Little*, to have a clear, concise and "newsworthy" message to offer them. The important question to think about is

why journalists would find this news worth publishing in their newspaper or broadcasting on their programme, and how to convince them that it can indeed be interesting for them and their audience.

What do we mean by "newsworthy" stories? What kind of stories will interest the media? According to *Nick Cater*, real stories about real people that honestly portray the rewards and pitfalls should be most valued when speaking to the media. These are indeed looking for stories about people with which their audience can easily identify, while

GOLDEN RULE 26

Present real and concrete stories, together with tangible data, and identify the hooks that will attract media attention

at the same time they seek "the new, the unusual, the counter-intuitive, the colourful, funny, dramatic". In addition, volunteer organisations should not simply present vague stories with references to broad values and ideologies; they should be able to present tangible, concrete data. *Matthew Little* insisted on the importance of finding the "hook" which will attract media attention. High-visibility events or special days can be this hook; obviously 2011 being the European Year of Volunteering is a powerful hook.

GOLDEN RULE 27

Facilitate the work of the journalists as much as possible by providing all necessary information in a brief but exhaustive way On the practical side, *Julia Castello* and *Pura Gomez* both made the point that journalists often have very tight schedules and expect the volunteer organisation to facilitate their work, by being able to present their news to them briefly but exhaustively, and provide them spontaneously with all the background information they need in order

to be updated on the topic without having to commit themselves to time-consuming research. The information should also be clear and jargon-free.

Also due to this question of a lack of time, volunteer organisations should not wait until the journalists come to them to look for some news; they should take the initiative themselves and approach the journalists with their stories. Moreover, one person in the organisation should be exclusively responsible for contact with the media, in order to allow journalists to have

GOLDEN RULE 28

Do not wait until journalists come to you but rather take the initiative to approach them and to build a real partnership

one reference contact point, to facilitate their work when they collaborate with the organisation.

GOLDEN RULE 29

Be aware of controversies and take them as an opportunity for more visibility Finally, many media representatives present at the conference pointed to the fact that controversies should not be feared but rather taken as opportunities to get the message across and to get more people talking about the topic, which means more visibility.

In addition to the media, volunteer organisations might also want or need to collaborate with PR and communication agencies, for example in the framework of the organisation of big events or promotional campaigns. Collaboration with this kind of agency is likely to cost more than collaboration with the media; their services are often expensive as these organisations also work with big companies which can invest a lot of money in their communication strategy.

GOLDEN RULE 30

Negotiate pro bono services with PR and communication agencies by committing them to your cause and triggering their interest According to *Nick Cater*, any organisation should nonetheless be prepared to invest some resources in this kind of service as communication has become highly professionalised and therefore cannot be carried out effectively without the help of professionals. On the other hand, he also points out the possibility to collaborate with some agencies on a

pro bono basis. This can be negotiated if the volunteer organisation can trigger the interest and the commitment of the agency which it works with. *Eric Rhan*, from BEE, shares this view and recommends finding the relevant arguments in order to get the agency committed to the cause and to convince them that working for such cause can also bring benefits and publicity to them.

In addition, working with several agencies on different aspects of the same project – global conception of the campaign; design of the image of the campaign; management of the website; dissemination of content; ... – can also be effective as it will create a sense of competition among the different partners and encourage them to provide more and

GOLDEN RULE 31

Use a diversity of partners among PR and communication agencies to trigger a sense of competition leading to more and better results

better results. This being said, effective coordination must obviously be ensured by the volunteer organisation in order to ensure coherence and avoid duplication.

"Make the volunteering opportunity relevant to your audience both personally, as well as professionally." Tanya Burak, KPMG

3. Communicating corporate volunteering

In view of the growing importance of Corporate Social Responsibility in the business sector, the question of how to communicate volunteering in companies has become increasingly relevant. Indeed most big and medium companies now have their own CSR policy, which allow them to 'demonstrate

to the wider public that they are good "corporate citizens" and do business responsibly. CSR can be beneficial for companies in various ways including by providing them with a good reputation among their customers, and by increasing cohesion among their employees as well as employees' commitment to the company.

Employee volunteering schemes have become a common tool in CSR policies. Companies are indeed increasingly establishing such schemes, which, according to various systems, allow the employees to volunteer during part of their working time, for example by engaging in their communities to mentor disadvantaged youth; by engaging in environmental action; or by offering their skills to local non-profit organisations.

However, CSR policies are still far from being implemented in the majority of companies and employee volunteering schemes are not always considered an option, either because this kind of programme remains unknown, or because benefits are not clear. Therefore, communication should be improved regarding this particular dimension, both vis-à-vis companies' managers, in order to convince them of the utility and benefits of corporate volunteering, and vis-à-vis employees, in order to inform them about the existing opportunities and the benefits they can draw from engaging in a volunteering experience.

GOLDEN RULE 32

Convince companies' top management of the benefits of employee volunteering by referring to their CSR responsibilities and to how volunteering contributes to employees' self-development and commitment to the company

Aysun Sayin, from the Boyner Group, emphasised the importance of firstly convincing the top management of the benefits of volunteering for their company, by using arguments related to companies' corporate responsibility; how volunteering contributes to the self-development of employees; how it contributes to improving their work performance; and how it increases the sense of belonging to the company. Introducing employee volunteering schemes in a company's CSR policy is,

according to *Tanya Burak* from KPMG, an opportunity to express and communicate the values of the company and its commitment to the communities. After having convinced the top management, the communication process should be oriented towards the employees: how to effectively inform them about existing opportunities? And how to get them motivated and willing to engage in voluntary activities?

On this dimension, *Aysun Sayin* formulates some key recommendations:

GOLDEN RULE 33

Provide clear information about the volunteering opportunities to employees

GOLDEN RULE 34

Include employee volunteers in the planning process of volunteering activities

GOLDEN RULE 35

Be in regular contact with employee volunteers and be available for questions and remarks

- Clear and comprehensive task descriptions should be established and be available to the employee volunteers, who should be presented with different options adapted to their respective skills and knowledge; and they should be informed about the training offered to them.
- Sive a voice to employee volunteers when deciding on the division of tasks and the content of the tasks; share the results of the activities with the employee volunteers who participated in the activity; encourage employee volunteers to express their own creativity and bring their own input.
- » Use various communication tools including emails, meetings, posters, SMS, internal newsletters, be available for answering questions or listening to potential problems encountered by the employee volunteers; and allow for feedback. On this point, César Rua, from Telefónica Brasil,

insists on the importance of using all existing internal channels to regularly update employees about the state of play of the different programmes, successful stories and new opportunities that arise. *María Ángeles Alcázar García*, from Iberdrola, underlines that regular communication will contribute to creating a community-based spirit within the company and foster commitment.

GOLDEN RULE 36

Acknowledge and reward employee volunteers for their contribution

» Successful programmes as well as remarkable commitments should be acknowledged and highlighted; award criteria should be open and transparent.

² The European Volunteer Centre, 2009. Developing Employee Volunteering. A joint venture between volunteer organisations and companies. Strategies, success stories, challenges (Conference final report), Brussels: the European Volunteer Centre

Tanya Burak insisted on the need to make the volunteering opportunity relevant to the audience, both personally, as well as professionally. Regarding the personal dimension, she argues that most people practice a certain degree of "Personal Social Responsibility"; moreover, employees can be at-

GOLDEN RULE 37

Make volunteering relevant to your audience both personally and professionally

tracted by the prospect of meeting new people and experiencing new projects. On the professional side, emphasis should be put on volunteering as an opportunity to develop and learn new skills and knowledge.

GOLDEN RULE 38

Involve employee volunteers in the communication strategy

Finally, Aysun Sayin made the point that the best communicating agents of the values and benefits of volunteering within a company are the employees who are already engaged in some volunteering schemes. They should be encouraged to spread

around their experience and feelings, among their colleagues, and be themselves "recruiters" of new volunteers. Aysun Sayin noted that this requires the necessary training and means being given to them in order for them to be able to provide exhaustive and clear information, and adequately answer to the questions of their colleagues.

III. THE EUROPEAN YEAR OF VOLUNTEERING 2011 – A UNIQUE OPPORTUNITY TO COMMUNICATE VOLUNTEERING

"With the European Year of Volunteering in 2011 approaching fast, everyone should get involved in preparing to get the message across and encourage millions to take part – governments, volunteer organisations and businesses."

John Macdonald, leader of the European Commission Task Force for the European Year 2011 After a sustained advocacy campaign from the "EYV2011 Alliance"³, 2011 has been designated

nated by the European Union as the European Year of Volunteering. The Year will be a unique opportunity in terms of communicating volunteering as it will constitute an occasion to "raise public awareness of the scope, value and impact of volunteering in Europe and to highlight

its contribution to our communities; to celebrate volunteers and volunteer organisations for their contri-

bution and to showcase good practices and projects involving volunteers; to raise awareness among European citizens of the possibilities to volunteer and to motivate people to become involved; to highlight and recognise the value of local volunteer action in building a European identity; and to demonstrate and raise awareness about the need for a volunteering infrastructure at local, regional, national and European level^{#4}.

Throughout the Year, various awareness-raising activities will be organised at European, national and local levels. Volunteer organisations should take this chance to communicate among citizens, but also towards different stakeholders such as authorities and businesses, about the contribution of volunteering to society and the need for more resources and people in this sector.

GOLDEN RULE 39

Make 2011 your year: Use thecmomentum created to further advance your campaigns and messages In order to make the best use of 2011 to effectively communicate volunteering, the voluntary sector and its partners will actually have to follow the same schema as for any communication process, the first step being to identify the objectives that we want to achieve. In this regard, four main objectives have already been formulated in the Council decision on the Year⁵:

- Work towards an enabling environment for volunteering in the EU in order to anchor volunteering as part of promoting civic participation and people-to-people activities in an EU context and address existing obstacles to voluntary activities, where appropriate and necessary;
- Empower organisers of voluntary activities to improve the quality of voluntary activities in order to facilitate voluntary activities and help organisers to implement new types of voluntary activities and to encourage networking, mobility, cooperation and synergies within civil society and between civil society and other sectors in an EU context;
- Recognise voluntary activities in order to encourage appropriate incentives for individuals, companies and volunteer-development organisations and gain recognition for volunteering at EU level and in the Member States by policymakers, civil society organisations, public institutions, the formal and non-formal education sector and employers for skills and competences developed through volunteering;
- » Raise awareness of the value and importance of volunteering in order to raise general awareness of the importance of volunteering as an expression of civic participation which contributes to issues which are of common concern to all Member States, such as a harmonious societal development and social cohesion.

In order to identify the target audiences, *John Macdonald* suggests asking ourselves the following questions: who will help us to achieve our goals? What segments of the population do we want to reach? This will allow us to precisely define the various target groups and adapt our strategies, messages and activities on the basis of these groups.

The next step consists of identifying the specific message that we want to convey throughout the year. The message, based on the objectives, will be adapted to the different targets – different segments of the population and different stakeholders. Thus, for example, one message to the volunteers will be: "Thank you"; to citizens, "You can be a volunteer"; to policy-makers: "A great deal of work still needs to be done", *Nick Cater*, freelance journalist and *Katie Rizvi*, from the Little People Association, both insisted on the importance of presenting concrete and inspiring stories, relating to real people and showcasing the concrete impact of volunteering both on volunteers and on society.

This Year should be the occasion to prove that volunteers really make a difference, as the slogan of the Year expresses it. In addition, the core of the message should be shared by all stakeholders, in order to maintain coherence and present a common position from the whole voluntary sector; all stakeholders repeating similar messages through different channels and in different places will ensure greater visibility and an efficient mass impact. *Matthew Little* underlined the important hook that the Year can constitute in order to attract wide media coverage, however insisting on the importance of building a clear message and being able to convince the media about the relevance of such a Year and the value of volunteering, by having tangible data to present to them.

³ The EYV2011 Alliance – the Alliance for the European Year of Volunteering 2011 – is a group of European networks of NGOs with an interest in volunteering that came together at the end of 2007 in order to advocate the nomination of 2011 as the European Year of Volunteering 2011.

⁴ The European Year of Volunteering 2011 Alliance, 2008. Towards a European Year of Volunteering 2011 (position paper), Brussels

⁵ Council Decision of 27 November 2009 on the European Year of Voluntary Activities Promoting Active Citizenship (2011), 2010/37/EC

Finally, we will have to consider which tools are at our disposal, depending on the resources, and which are the most appropriate to use depending on the different target groups, but also on the level of awareness of these groups. At European level, the communication strategy will be mainly the responsibility of a professional communication agency. Different activities and tools will be used including a website; thematic events; an advertising campaign; the organisation of a "EYV tour" – taking the form of an interactive mobile structure passing through capitals of the EU Member States with a goal to depict individual volunteer stories in different EU Member States; At national and local levels, the various activities will have the possibility of receiving financial support from the European Commission and will be coordinated by the national coordinating bodies.

GOLDEN RULE 40

Make the most of the European Year 2011 to widely communicate the message of volunteering! The communication process through the European Year 2011 must be a common effort from all stakeholders from the voluntary sector in collaboration with its partners. We should make use of all possible tools and channels that will be at our disposal, including the over 100 million volunteers

in Europe, to really make the most of the Year and ensure that it has a long-lasting impact in everyone's mind.

APPENDIXES

1. Address Book

Organisers:

CEV - European Volunteer Centre

Rue de la Science, 10 1000 Brussels – Belgium Tel: +32 2 511 75 01 Fax: +32 2 514 59 89 Email: cev@cev.be

Website: http://www.cev.be

FLINDAR -

Fondación de la Solidaridad y el Voluntariado de la Comunitat Valenciana

Calle Fuencaliente 1 46023, Valencia – Spain Tel: +34 96 330 11 09 Fax: +34 96 330 65 11 Email: info@fundar.es Website: www.fundar.es

Speakers:

Alcázar García, María Ángeles

Iberdrola Tomás Redondo, 1. 28033 Madrid – Spain www.iberdrola.com

Aranguren Gonzalo, Luis

PPC editions (Promoción Popular Cristiana)

Baeza, Vicente

MPDL – Movimiento Por La Paz el Desarme y la Libertad Bethencourt Alfonso, 2 - 4 38002 · Santa Cruz de Tenerife Spain www.mpdlc.org

Baldas, Eugen

Deustcher Caritasverband e.V. Reinhardtstraße 13 D 10117 Berlin – Germany www.caritas-germany.org

Barberá Nolla, Rita

Mayor of Valencia Pl. de l'Ajuntament,1 46002 València – Spain www.valencia.es

Beard, Matt

Amnesty International Easton Street 1 London WC1X 0DW – UK www.amnesty.org

Berger, Ulrike

Caritas Volunteer Center Brandenburg Neustädtische Heidestraße 24 14776 Brandenburg – Germany www.dicvberlin.caritas.de

Blasco Castany, Rafael

Fundar - Fondación de la Solidaridad y el Voluntariado de la Comunitat Valenciana C/ Fuencaliente, 1 46023 Valencia – Spain www.fundar.es

Bradley, Elaine

Volunteering Ireland Eustace Street 18, Temple Bar Dublin 2 – Ireland www.volunteeringireland.ie

Bucsi Szabó, Edit

Ambassy of Hungary to Spain Angel de Diego Roldan 21 28016 Madrid – Spain www.embajada-hungria.org

Burak, Tanya

KPMG 1-2 Dorset Rise EC4Y 8EN London – UK www.kpmg.co.uk

Castelló, Julià

Journalist

Cater, Nick

Freelance Journalist

Degli Esposti, Ettore

Coordination of Volunteer Support Centres Lombardia Piazza Castello 3 Milano – Italy www.csylombardia.it

F. Tóth, András

ÖKA – National Volunteer Center Múzeum krt. 23-25 1053 Budapest – Hungary www.onkentes.hu

García-Ajofrín, Isabel

Desarrollo y Asistencia C/ Artistas 2, 5° 28020 Madrid – Spain www.desarrolloyasistencia.org

Georgescu, Mara

Celivo – Centro Servizio al Volontariato della provincia di Genova Piazza Borgo Pila 4 16129 Genova – Italy www.celivo.it

Gómez, Pura

Journalist RNE (Radio Nacional de España) http://www.rtve.es/radio/

Greene, Stephen

RockCorps Rue de Berri 8 75008 Paris – France www.rockcorps.com

Hambach, Eva

Vlaams Steunpunt Vrijwilligerswerk and CEV President Amerikalei 164 2000 Antwerpen – Belgium www.cev.be

Held, Markus

CEV – The European Volunteer Centre Rue de la Science 10 1000 Brussels 1000 – Belgium www.cev.be

Kovacic, Domagoj

SEEYN, South East European Youth Network Behdzeta Mutevelica 8 71000 Sarajevo Bosnia-Herzegovina www.seeyn.org

Lejarazu, Diego

Fundación Chandra C/Jaén 13, Local 28020 Madrid – Spain www.onkentes.hu

Little, Matthew

Freelance Journalist

Lopatta-Loibl, Karin

Directorate General for Education and Culture, European Commission Rue de la Loi 200 1049 Bruxelles – Belgium www.europa.eu

Macdonald, John

Head of Task Force for the European Year of Volunteering 2011, European Commission Directorate General 002 1049 Brussels – Belgium www.ec.europa.eu

Mas, Eulalia

Federació Catalana del Voluntariat Social Grassot 3, 3er. 08025 Barcelona – Spain www.voluntaris.cat

McNally, Naoise

Volunteering Ireland Eustace Street 18 Temple Bar Dublin 2 – Ireland www.volunteeringireland.ie

Molenaar, Mark

MOVISIE Postbus 19129 3501 DC Utrecht The Netherlands www.movisie.nl

Montesinos, Jesús

Journalist *Pinazo, Daniel*

Jaume I University Av. de Vicent Sos Baynat s/n 12071 Castelló de la Plana Spain www.uji.es

Rahn, Erik

BBE – Bundesnetzwerk Bürgerschaftliches Engagement Michaelkirchstr. 17–18 10179 Berlin-Mitte – Germany www.b-b-e.de

Razzano, Renzo

CSVnet, CEV Vice-President Via Cavour 191 00184 Roma – Italy www.csvnet.it

Rigman, Cristina

Pro Vobis National Volunteer Centre Str. Rene Descartes 6 400486 Cluj-Napoca Romania www.provobis.ro

Rizvi, Katie

The Little People Association Calea Manastur 42b 3400 Cluj Napoca – Romania www.thelittlepeople.ro

Rúa, César

Telefonica São Paulo Avenida Brigadeiro Faria Lima, 1.188 - 3º andar -Conjuntos 33/34 - CEP 01451-001 - São Paulo - Brasil www.fundacaotelefonica.org.br

Rueda, Yolanda

Fundación Cibervoluntarios Calle de Soria9 5ª Planta 28005 Madrid – Spain www.cibervoluntarios.org

Sánchez, Iván

Journalist for Mediaresponsable Camí Ral, 114, oficina 6 08330 Premià de Mar (Barcelona) – Spain

Sayin, Aysun

The Boyner Group Menekseli Sokak, 5, 1. Levent, Istanbul – Turkey www.boyner.com

Schwärzel, Mirko

BBE - Bundesnetzwerk Bürgerschaftliches Engagement Michaelkirchstr. 17–18 10179 Berlin – Germany www.b-b-e.de

Szabo, Susana

France Bénévolat, CEV Vice-President 127 rue Falguière, Hall B-1 75015 Paris – France www.francebenevolat.org

Tomic, Danilo

SEEYN / research society "Vladimir Mandic - Manda" Behdzeta Mutevelica 8 Sarajevo 71000 Bosnia-Herzegovina www.seeyn.org

Wygnánski, Kuba

The Unit for Social Innovation and Research "Shipyard" Bracka 20a, 00-028 Warsaw – Poland www.stocznia.org.pl

2. Participants List

Nr	Last name	First name	Organisation	Country
1	Abraham	Zach	International Federation of Red Cross and Red Crescent Societies	Switzerland
2	Agerhem	Stefan	International Federation of Red Cross and Red Crescent Societies	Switzerland
3	Albalat Riera	Manuel	Plataforma del Voluntariat Social de la Comunitat Valenciana	Spain
4	Alcázar García	María Ángeles	Iberdrola	Spain
5	Algarate Velasco	Pilar	FEVOCAM	Spain
6	Allen	Alexandra	Mostra Communication	Belgium
7	Allen	Kenn	IAVE - International Association for Volunteer Effort	USA
8	Álvarez Lorenzo	Beatriz	Telefónica	Spain
9	Amorós Blaya	Maria José	APAEX Elche	Spain
10	Amurrio	Roberto	Ministerio de Sanidad y Politica Social	Spain
11	Aparisi	Eva	Asociación Valenciana de Caridad	Spain
12	Aranguren Gonzalo	Luis	Philosopher, Director of PPC editions	Spain
13	Asencio Domenech	Hilario	Plataforma del Voluntariat Social de la Comunitat Valenciana	Spain
14	Asenjo	Luis	Iberdrola	Spain
15	Asensio Alvarez	Ester	Plataforma de ONG´s de Voluntariado de Tenerife	Spain
16	Ayala Valiente	Rosario	Junta de Andalucía — Agencia Andaluza del Voluntariado	Spain
17	Baeza	Vicente	MPDL — Movimiento Por La Paz el Desarme y la Libertad	Spain
18	Baldas	Eugen	Deutscher Caritasverband Freiburg e.V.	Germany
19	Balla Ndong	Papa	Fundación Cibervoluntarios	Spain
20	Ballarino	Lucilla	Telefónica	Spain
21	Ballesteros Alcarcón	Vicente	Plataforma Andaluza de Voluntariado	Spain
22	Barberá Nolla	Rita	Mayor of Valencia	Spain
23	Barranco Verdejo	Paula	Plataforma del Voluntariat Social de la Comunitat Valenciana	Spain
24	Beard	Matt	Amnesty International Germany	UK
25	Bécsy	Etelka	Ministry of Social Affairs and Labour	Hungary
26	Benaches Tortosa	Jorge	Plataforma del Voluntariat Social de la Comunitat Valenciana	Spain
27	Benouamane	Farid	Infos à Gogo	France
28	Bentué Andreu	Luis	Colegio Profesional de trabajo social de aragon	Spain
29	Berger	Ulrike	Deutscher Caritasverband Freiburg, Freiwilligen-Zentrum Brandenburg	Germany
30	Berman	Els	NOV	Netherlands
31	Bernardet	Danielle	France Bénévolat	France
32	Bertolucci	Tatiana	FEVOCAM	Spain
33	Bessaa	Kamel	Infos à Gogo	France
34	Betegón Salamanca	Alejandra	Fundación Cibervoluntarios	Spain

35	Biejat	Magda	Fundacja Moje Stypendium	Poland
36	Blasco Castany	Rafael	FUNDAR	Spain
37	Blaya	Pilar	Puerto de Valencia	Spain
38	Bo Dano	Casper	FriSe	Denmark
39	Bolinches Sánchez	Julián	Iberdrola	Spain
40	Borges	Maria Elisa	Conselho Nacional para a Promoção do Volontariado - CNPV	Portugal
41	Borgogno	Roberta	Celivo Centro Servizi al Voluntariato	Italy
42	Boss	Karin	Plataforma del Voluntariat Social de la Comunitat Valenciana	Spain
43	Bradley	Elaine	Volunteering Ireland	Ireland
44	Brito Galindo	Andrés	Casino de Taoro, S. A.	Spain
45	Brookes	John	Volunteering England	UK
46	Bruin	Astrid	MOVISIE	Netherlands
47	Bucsi Szabó	Edit	Ambassador of Hungary in Madrid	Hungary
48	Burak	Tanya	KPMG LLP	UK
49	Calvo Garcia	Eva	Cruz Roja Espanola	Spain
50	Capella	Thais	Cierval	Spain
51	Cardona Borrás	Nuria	Plataforma del Voluntariat Social de la Comunitat Valenciana	Spain
52	Carrascosa Soriano	Mª José	Plataforma del Voluntariat Social de la Comunitat Valenciana	Spain
53	Caselli	Rossana	Centro Nazionale per il Volontariato	Italy
54	Castelló	Julià	Journalist	Spain
55	Catalán Bagán	Florencio	Asociación Educ@2	Spain
56	Cater	Nick	Journalist	UK
57	Chacón Yuste	Inma	Fundación Cibervoluntarios	Spain
58	Chambel	Elza	Conselho Nacional para a Promoção do Volontariado - CNPV	Portugal
59	Chao	Mae	United Nations Volunteers	Germany
60	Cobb	Mei	United Way Worldwide	USA
61	Coberter Hidalgo	Ferran	Cruz Roja Espanola	Spain
62	Conde Ullán	Sonia	Canal de Isabel II	Spain
63	Corredera Zapata	Julián	ENDESA S.A.	Spain
64	Corrons Nicasio	Patricia	Iberdrola	Spain
65	Costa Gonçalves	Inês	Fundação Eugénio de Almeida	Portugal
66	Costanzo Sow	Simona	UNV - United Nations Volunteers	International
67	Cutuleapu	Octavian	Pro Vobis National Volunteer Center	Romania
68	Darmon	Claire	ENGAGE - Freshfields Bruckhaus Deringer	Belgium
69	De Boiserie	Bart	Flemish Community	Belgium
70	De Dios	Clara	KPMG	Spain
71	de Haro Miralles	Victor	Plataforma del Voluntariat Social de la Comunitat Valenciana	Spain

72	De la Nava	Javier	BBVA	Spain
73	Deak	Katalin	CEV	Europe
74	Degli Esposti	Ettore	Coordinamento regionale CSV Lombardia	Italy
75	del Mar Izquierdo Burgueño	Maria	Plataforma Andaluza de Voluntariado	Spain
76	Delgado Martin	Virginia	FEVOCAM	Spain
77	Demeulemeester	0ele	Flemish government - departement welfare and health	Belgium
78	Dennis	Kathleen A.	IAVE - International Association for Volunteer Effort	USA
79	Digneffe	Kelly	Vleva - Liaison Agency Flanders-Europe	Belgium
80	Domingo	Pilar	Inforpress	Spain
81	Dones Rodríguez	José Félix	Telefónica	Spain
82	Dos Reis	Marcos Paulo	Telefónica	Spain
83	Early	Eva	Volunteer Centres Ireland	Ireland
84	Edo Ausach	Javier	Plataforma del Voluntariat Social de la Comunitat Valenciana	Spain
85	Escandell Carbonell	Lorena	APAEX Elche	Spain
86	Escobar Lago	May	Fundación Bip Bip	Spain
87	Esteve Cantavella	Dolores	Asociacion Española Contra El Cancer de Castellón	Spain
88	F. Tóth	András	ÖKA - Önkentes Központ Alapítvány	Hungary
89	Falcó Maestre	Luis	Vida Libre	Spain
90	Fernández González	Valentín	ADACEA Alicante, Asociación de Daño Cerebral	Spain
91	Ferrer	Guadalupe	Asociación Valenciana de Caridad	Spain
92	Ferrer Allkins	Zafira	Generalitat Valenciana	Spain
93	Flores Cerdán	Dolores	Fundación Voluntarios por Madrid and Member of the City Council of Madrid	Spain
94	Fonovic	Ksenija	SPES - Centro di Servizio per il Volontariato del Lazio	Italy
95	Fonseca	Ana Patrícia	Fundação Evangelização e Culturas	Portugal
96	Font	Teresa	Plataforma del Voluntariat Social de la Comunitat Valenciana	Spain
97	Forčić	Gordana	SMART - Association for Civil Society Development	Croatia
98	Frattani	Gianluca	Associazione Voluntariato Marche	Italy
99	Gaitán	Ricardo	Telefónica	Spain
100	Galán Palomares	Gisela	Centro Voluntariado Fundar Alzira	Spain
101	Galaup	Sylvie	Fundación Bip Bip	Spain
102	Garcia	Elena	Inforpress	Spain
103	García Carretero	Manuel	Plataforma Andaluza de Voluntariado	Spain
104	García Galeán	Laura	FEVOCAM	Spain
	Garcia Garcia	Maria Dolores	Basque Government —	Spain
105	dalcia dalcia	mana polores	Employment and Social Affairs Department	Spa

107	García Pino	Carol	Plataforma del Voluntariat Social de la Comunitat Valenciana	Spain
108	García Solana	Eva María	Basque Government — Employment and Social Affairs Department	Spain
109	García-Ajofrín Romero-Salazar	Isabel	Desarrollo y Asistencia	Spain
110	Garrido López	Mar	FEVOCAM	Spain
111	Garriga Cuadras	Xavier	Generalitat de Catalunya	Spain
112	Georgescu	Mara	Celivo Centro Servizi al Voluntariato	Italy
113	Ginga	Ivan	CEV	Europe
114	Glenat	Christian	ESAN - European Social Action Network	France
115	Gómez Roman	Pura	RNE - National Spanish Radio	Spain
116	Gonzales	Sebastian	Gobierno de Canarias	Spain
117	González Gallego	Manuel	Plataforma del Voluntariat Social de la Comunitat Valenciana	Spain
118	González Garrido	Juan Alberto	Canal de Isabel II	Spain
119	Gonzalez Macia	Francisco	TEMPE S.A.	Spain
120	González Martínez	Paulino	ACFUC	Spain
121	Grau Palomar	Javier	Plataforma del Voluntariat Social de la Comunitat Valenciana	Spain
122	Greene	Stephen	RockCorps	USA
123	Grönlund	Ulla	Citizen Forum (Kansalaisareena)	Finland
124	Güçlü	Başak	Corporate Volunteer Association	Turkey
125	Guerrero	Xavier Lorente	ACFUC	Spain
126	Guijarro Garcia	Juan Luis	Plataforma del Voluntariat Social de la Comunitat Valenciana	Spain
127	Guimaraes	Paula Alexandra	GRACE - Grupo de Reflexão e Apoio à Cidadania Empresarial	Portugal
128	Guimera Bonnet	Ernesto	Plataforma de ONG´s de Voluntariado de Tenerife	Spain
129	Gutierrez Gonzalez	Ines	Plataforma del Voluntariat Social de la Comunitat Valenciana	Spain
130	Hambach	Eva	Vlaams Steunpunt Vrijwilligerswerk	Belgium
131	Hammoui	Abdelaziz	Plataforma del Voluntariat Social de la Comunitat Valenciana	Spain
132	Hartman	Urska	Zavod Voluntariat	Slovenia
133	Hayes	Sarah	IAVE - International Association for Volunteer Effort	USA
134	Held	Markus	CEV	Europe
135	Herbst	Jan	The Unit for Social Innovation and Research "Shipyard"	Poland
136	Hernandez Gallardo	Maria	Plataforma del Voluntariat Social de la Comunitat Valenciana	Spain
137	Höglund	Vanja	Volontärbyrån	Sweden
138	Horváth	Judit Barbara	Ministry of Foreign Affairs of the Republic of Hungary	Hungary
139	Hoste	Tuur	Vlaams Steunpunt Vrijwilligerswerk	Belgium
140	Hubert	Amandine	Youth and Active Solidarity Ministry	France
141	Huzejrovic	Vahida	Osmijeh-Gracanica	Bosnia and Herzegovina

142	Ivanova Ilieva	Milka	Asociasion Progreso	Spain
143	Izquierdo de Bartolomé	Rafael	Desarrollo y Asistencia	Spain
144	Jackson	Rob	Volunteering England	UK
145	Jacobs	Daniel	P.A.U. Education	Spain
146	Jimenez Rosa	0mar	Plataforma del Voluntariat Social de la Comunitat Valenciana	Spain
147	Jordá Vidal	Mario	Fundación Iniciativa Solidaria Ángel Tomás	Spain
148	Kalinowski	Jakub	Volunteers for Sport Foundation	Poland
149	Kaloeida	Efi	Prefecture of Athens	Greece
150	Kamerbeek	Sandra	MOVISIE	Netherlands
151	Kholod	Lyudmyla	Fundación Cibervoluntarios	Spain
152	Kiisel	Maie	Volunteer Development Estonia	Estonia
153	Kjær	Anne-Mette	Ministry of Social Affairs	Denmark
154	Komorowska	Zofia	The Unit for Social Innovation and Research "Shipyard"	Poland
155	Kovacic	Domagoj	SEEYN — South East European Youth Network	Bosnia and Herzegovina
156	Kroon	Carolien	P.A.U. Education	Spain
157	Krstevska	Ivona	SEEYN — South East European Youth Network	Macedonia
158	Krüger	Roland	Generali Deutschland Holding AG	Germany
159	Kuntziger	Jacques	Ministry of Family and Integration	Luxembourg
160	Lacagnina	Pasquale	Coordinamento regionale CSV Lombardia	Italy
161	Lejarazu Ruiz de Azus	Diego	Fundacion Chandra	Spain
162	Lenoir	Marie-Agnès	International Planned Parenthood Federation	Belgium
163	León Ochea	Maria Nieves	Plataforma del Voluntariat Social de la Comunitat Valenciana	Spain
164	Leroy	Veerle	Het Punt vzw	Belgium
165	Lindo Solis	Jose	Generalitat Valenciana	Spain
166	Lindroth Bascope	Eva	Plataforma del Voluntariat Social de la Comunitat Valenciana	Spain
167	Little	Matthew	Journalist	UK
168	Lleonart Montagut	Eva	Federació Catalana del Voluntariat Social	Spain
169	Llobregat Cortes	Fatima	Asociación Capaz de Minusválidos	Spain
170	Lluch Pascual	Elena	Asociación de Jóvenes Musulmanes de Valencia	Spain
171	Loboda-Lencsés	Eszter	European network of Hole in the wall camps	Hungary
172	Longeon-Curci	Sylvie	Passerelles & Compétences	France
173	Lopatta-Loibl	Karin	European Commission, Youth Policy Unit	Europe
174	López	Ana	Fundar	Spain
175	López Izquierdo	Ana	Plataforma del Voluntariat Social de la Comunitat Valenciana	Spain
176	López Ferri	Ana	FARMAMUNDI	Spain
177	López García	María Virginia	Fundación Cibervoluntarios	Spain

178	López López	Epifanio	Plataforma del Voluntariat Social de la Comunitat Valenciana	Spain
179	López Segarra	Francisco	Plataforma del Voluntariat Social de la Comunitat Valenciana	Spain
180	Loro Martín-Gil	Silvia	Fundación CODESPA	Spain
181	Lukianczuk	Renata	Ministry of Foreign Affairs	Poland
182	Lunas Masnou	Maria Rosa	FOCAGG – Federació d'organitzacions Catalanes de Gent Gran, Dones i Família	Spain
183	Macchioni	Stefania	CSVnet - Coordinamento Nazionale dei Centri di Servizio per il Volontariato	Italy
184	Macdonald	John	European Commission	Europe
185	Madsen	Ole Christian	The Volunteer Centre in Denmark	Denmark
186	Marcolini	Enrico	Associazione Voluntariato Marche	Italy
187	Marti	Lluc	IAVE Youth Office in Catalonia	Spain
188	Martín Pérez	Aida María	Oficina Voluntariado del Cabildo de Tenerife	Spain
189	Martinez	Antoni	Fundacion de la Comunidad Valenciana para la cooperacion con Benin	Spain
190	Martínez Guillamón	Cristina	Plataforma del Voluntariat Social de la Comunitat Valenciana	Spain
191	Mas Conde	Eulalia	Federació Catalana del Voluntariat Social	Spain
192	Mas Suazo	Susanna	Generalitat de Catalunya	Spain
193	Mato	Juan Carlos	Ministerio de Sanidad y Politica Social	Spain
194	McNally	Naoise	Volunteering Ireland	Ireland
195	Melià Escamez	Jose María	Plataforma del Voluntariat Social de la Comunitat Valenciana	Spain
196	Mestre Moltó	Francisco	Plataforma del Voluntariat Social de la Comunitat Valenciana	Spain
197	Mira Boyer	Juan José	Iberdrola	Spain
198	Miralles	Luís	Asociación Valenciana de Caridad	Spain
199	Mirón Mirón	Lourdes	Confederación de Centros Juveniles Don Bosco de España	Spain
200	Molenaar	Mark	MOVISIE	Netherlands
201	Moleres Campmajò	Isabel María	Plataforma del Voluntariat Social de la Comunitat Valenciana	Spain
202	Montesinos	Jesús	Peony Digital	Spain
203	Mora	Tatiana	P.A.U. Education	Spain
204	Nachila	Andreea	Prahova County Council	Romania
205	Nikodemova	Katarina	CEV	Europe
206	Ofterdinger	Claus	ARBES e.V. Germany	Germany
207	Okereke	Nwadi	Volunteering England	UK
208	Oliveri	Mathieu	Infos à Gogo	France
209	Opfermann	Rebekka	CEV	Europe
210	Ortiz Martinez	Beatriz	Plataforma del Voluntariado de Espana	Spain
211	Paemen	Geert	Telefónica	Spain
212	Pagan	Juan	BBVA	Spain

213	Palomino	Esther	Fundación CODESPA	Spain
214	Pauli	Manuela	UBS AG, Switzerland	Switzerland
215	Pedanik	Rasmus	Volunteer Development Estonia	Estonia
216	Peña Mateo	Juan Luis	Plataforma Andaluza de Voluntariado	Spain
217	Peñalver	Samantha	IAVE	Spain
218	Perez	Jose	Ford Espana	Spain
219	Pérez San Juan	Emilia	Plataforma del Voluntariat Social de la Comunitat Valenciana	Spain
220	Pinazo Calatayud	Daniel	Jaume I University	Spain
221	Piotrowska	Aleksandra	Ministry of Labour and Social Policy	Poland
222	Poitrenaud	Anne-Carole	France Bénévolat	France
223	Polini	Benedetta	Associazione Voluntariato Marche	Italy
224	Poyato Roca	Luciano	Plataforma del Voluntariado de Espana	Spain
225	Poyatos	Juan Ángel	Fundar	Spain
226	Rahn	Erik	BBE - National Network for Civil Society	Germany
227	Ramos Moliner	Silvia	Plataforma del Voluntariat Social de la Comunitat Valenciana	Spain
228	Razzano	Renzo	CSVnet	Italy
229	Reger-Beau	Nicole	Agence du Bénévolat	Luxembourg
230	Ridde	Alexis	Youth and Active Solidarity Ministry	France
231	Rigman	Cristina	Pro Vobis National Volunteer Center	Romania
232	Riquelme Macià	Ma Dolores	Sociedad de San Vicente de Paúl	Spain
233	Rizvi	Katie	The Little People Association	Romania
234	Romberg	Tim	Tim Romberg Enterprise Social Software	Germany
235	Romeu	Lluis	Fundación "la Caixa"	Spain
236	Rosa Satorres	Melisa	Fundación Cibervoluntarios	Spain
237	Rossi	Minerva	Alter Company	Spain
238	Rua	Cesar	Telefonica	Brazil
239	Rueda Fernández	Yolanda	Fundación Cibervoluntarios	Spain
240	Ruíz Gimenez	Javier	Plataforma del Voluntariat Social de la Comunitat Valenciana	Spain
241	Ryan	Stephen	International Federation of Red Cross and Red Crescent Societies	Switzerland
242	Sabariego Gomez	Manuel Jesus	Universidad Pablo de Olivade	Spain
243	Sadoudi	Aomar	Infos à Gogo	France
244	Sadoudi	Karima	Infos à Gogo	France
245	Sadowski	Piotr	Volonteurope	UK
246	Sánchez	lván	Journalist	Spain
247	Sanchez Garcia	Monica	Plataforma del Voluntariado de Espana	Spain
248	Sanchez Garcia	Isabel	Colegio de economistas	Spain
		ì		

250	Santiago	Sam	American Airlines	USA
251	Santolaya Soriano	Francisco José	Junta de Andalucía — Agencia Andaluza del Voluntariado	Spain
252	Santos	Joaquin	BBVA	Spain
253	Santy	Filip	City of Kortrijk	Belgium
254	Sarrión Simón	Lola	Fundación Odontología Solidaria	Spain
255	Sayin	Aysun	Corporate Volunteer Association — the Boyner Group	Turkey
256	Schmitteln	Anna	P.A.U. Education	Spain
257	Schwärzel	Mirko	BBE - National Network for Civil Society	Germany
258	Seidl	Antje	German Federal Agency for Technical Relief	Germany
259	Semcu	Adrian	Prahova County Council	Romania
260	Semino	Stella Maris	Roskilde University	Denmark
261	Sicilia Afonso	Carmen Beatriz	Plataforma de ONG´s de Voluntariado de Tenerife	Spain
262	Siebolds	Doris	Arbeiter-Samariter-Bund Deutschland e.V. (ASB)	Germany
263	Simarro Olivares	Javier	Fundación Cibervoluntarios	Spain
264	Simon	Reimund	Mostra Communication	Belgium
265	Sim-Sim	Henrique	Fundação Eugénio de Almeida	Portugal
266	Skafte	Pernille	Danish Ministry of Social Affairs	Denmark
267	Skrzyńska	Marta	Ministry of Labour and Social Policy	Poland
268	Solak	Sevda	Time Public Relations	Turkey
269	Sozanská	Olga	HESTIA, o.s.	Czech Republic
270	Steenbergen	Marijke	MOVISIE	Netherlands
271	Stolz	Annette	Mostra Communication	Belgium
272	Storme	Aurélie	CEV	Europe
273	Subiela	Maria-Jose	BITC International - Business in the Community	UK
274	Šumanjski	Marinela	SEEYN - South East European Youth Network	Bosnia and Herzegovina
275	Szablics	Bálint	Ministry of Social Affairs and Labour	Hungary
276	Szabo	Susana	France Bénévolat	France
277	Szukalska Wrona	Malgorzata	Ministry of sport and tourism	Poland
278	Teixeira	João	Confederação Portuguesa do Voluntariado	Portugal
279	Tomás Barrachina	Fina	Fundación Proyecto Vivir	Spain
280	Tomic	Danilo	SEEYN - South East European Youth Network	Serbia
281	Tordera Delhom	Rosa	Plataforma del Voluntariat Social de la Comunitat Valenciana	Spain
282	Tornóczi	Zsófia	ÖKA - Önkentes Központ Alapítvány	Hungary
283	Torregrosa Sarrión	Ruben	Plataforma del Voluntariat Social de la Comunitat Valenciana	Spain
284	Torres	Vanessa	CIVA Comunicacion	Spain
285	Usco	Paolo	Centro Servizi Volontariato F.V.G.	Italy

286	V. Villanueva	Meghann Aurea	IAVE Youth Office in Catalonia	Spain
287	Varela Pena	Ángel	Journalist	Spain
288	Varm	Kristel	Volunteer Development Estonia	Estonia
289	Vayda	Kristina	RockCorps	France
290	Velasco Laiseca	Mª Jesús	Plataforma del Voluntariat Social de la Comunitat Valenciana	Spain
291	Velilla	Carmen	CSV Media	UK
292	Verdet Peris	Isabel	Plataforma del Voluntariat Social de la Comunitat Valenciana	Spain
293	Viana García	Victor	Fundación Cibervoluntarios	Spain
294	Vidal-Quadras	Carlos	Fundación "la Caixa"	Spain
295	Vila Miras	Maria	Federació Catalana del Voluntariat Social	Spain
296	Villarroel	Cecilia	Fundación Entreculturas	Spain
297	Wijas	Maria	Fundacja Moje Stypendium	Poland
298	Wijnandt	Hilde	Vlaams Steunpunt Vrijwilligerswerk	Belgium
299	Willmann	Lukasz	Ministry of Foreign Affairs of the Republic of Poland	Poland
300	Winkler	Erika	Federal Ministry of Labour, Social Affairs and Consumer Protection	Austria
301	Wojsławowicz	Ewa	The Kronenberg Foundation at Citi Handlowy	Poland
302	Wygnański	Jan Jakub	The Unit for Social Innovation and Research "Shipyard"	Poland
303	Zalamea	Ana	Asociación Valenciana de Caridad	Spain
304	Zei	Lada	ZDUS — Association of Slovenian Pensioner's societies	Slovenia
305	Zidouni	Nabil	Infos à Gogo	France
306	Zimmermann	Pablo	Fundación Voluntarios por Madrid	Spain
307	Żołędowska	Marta	Ministry of Labour and Social Policy	Poland

3. Bibliography and useful references

- » Bronwyn Drainie, 2001. A discussion paper by Bronwyn Drainie, Toronto, http://www.vsi-isbc.org/eng/awareness/pdf/drainie.pdf
- » Cause Communications, 2005. Communications Toolkit A guide to navigating communications for the non-profit world, Santa Monica: Cause Communications
- Council Decision of 27 November 2009 on the European Year of Voluntary Activities Promoting Active Citizenship (2011), 2010/37/EC
- Steve McCurley and Rick Lynch, 2006. Volunteer Management: Mobilizing All the Resources of the Community, 2nd Edition, Johnstone Training and Consultation, Inc.
- The European Volunteer Centre, 2009. Developing Employee Volunteering. A joint venture between volunteer organisations and companies. Strategies, success stories, challenges (Conference final report), Brussels: the European Volunteer Centre
- The European Year of Volunteering 2011 Alliance, 2008. Towards a European Year of Volunteering 2011 (position paper), Brussels





Published by CEV, the European Volunteer Centre © 2010

The CEV Multi-Stakeholder Symposium was organised in collaboration with









